

UNIVERSITY OF CENTRAL ASIA GRADUATE SCHOOL OF DEVELOPMENT Mountain Societies Research Institute

Characteristics and Profitability of Livestock-based Farming Systems in At-Bashy, Naryn Oblast

Azamat Azarov Zbynek Polesny Vladimir Verner Dietrich Darr



UNIVERSITY OF CENTRAL ASIA GRADUATE SCHOOL OF DEVELOPMENT Mountain Societies Research Institute

Research paper # 6, 2020

Characteristics and Profitability of Livestock-based Farming Systems in At-Bashy, Naryn Oblast

Azamat Azarov Zbynek Polesny Vladimir Verner Dietrich Darr

Abstract: Farming in mountainous areas is practiced primarily by crop and livestock based small scale farmers. Prevailing agricultural production systems of these farms focus on animal husbandry, which depend on a mix of crop and pasture land around settlements and higher elevation summer pastures. The lack of sufficient production of winter feed and degradation of pastures around villages due to over-stocking, especially in early spring, results in low fattening and health of livestock, and subsequent low profitability from animal husbandry. Understanding the farm agricultural production system is crucial in order to make interventions that can contribute to improved crop and animal productivity and sustainable pasture use. This study aims to characterize prevailing farming systems in terms of their herding practices and fodder cropping, to determine annual fodder demand and supply for herds, and economic contribution of current livestock raising practices. The study derives recommendations for increasing animal productivity and ensuring sustainable pasture use. The paper is based on a survey of 72 households in the mountain villages of southern-central Tien Shan. The nutritional values of fodder type and feed requirements for animals were taken from different sources. We computed gross margins (GM) to assess the farmers' operational performance in livestock production. Linear programming (linear optimization) was applied to optimize available resources and production system and to achieve the maximum GM. Results from linear programming indicated limitations on the available fodder stocks during winter period, which lasts 7.5 months and is defined as a period during which animals should be kept indoor. On average, farmers owned 15.8 livestock units and hold 3.85 ha of arable land. More than 90% of the actual cultivated (irrigated and rainfed) land was used to grow fodder crops for winter. On average, the total amount of available fodder was 9,102 kg DM per farm. The annual feeding cycle analysis revealed that meadows and pastures near the villages were used intensively during spring and autumn due to the insufficient amount of winter feed stocks, which induced significant pasture degradation. Total gross margins from livestock raising per farm household was positive and accumulated to 139,141 KGS. However, many animals were undernourished for a significant part of the year, meaning that most farmers could only sell animals from summer to late autumn, after the summer grazing period, when market prices dropped. These and other factors made animal production highly risky and reduced the GM. Results of optimization showed a decrease in total GM by 15%, driven mainly by decrease of number of animals, as the amount of available fodder is sufficient for only 9.4 LU. Despite the fact that total GM reduced, GM per head in optimization model was higher. Overall, the results suggest that adjustments in the smallholders' production methods are required. In particular, an expansion of fodder cultivation is suggested to increase volume of fodder stock for winter period and ensure profitability of livestock production. However, provision of productive inputs and additional consultancy services would be needed to ensure success in this area

Keywords: smallholder farms, micro analysis, animal husbandry, pasture use and fodder production **JEL classification:** Q12, Q15, Q16

MSRI is part of the Graduate School of Development, University of Central Asia. The University of Central Asia (UCA) was founded in 2000. The Presidents of Kazakhstan, the Kyrgyz Republic, and Tajikistan, and His Highness the Aga Khan signed the International Treaty and Charter establishing this secular and private university, ratified by the respective parliaments, and registered with the United Nations.

The Mountain Societies Research Institute's Research Papers Series is a peer-reviewed trans-disciplinary research series conducted to help inform and contribute to the Sustainable Mountain Development agenda in Central Asia. MSRI's integrated approach to research with and for the benefit of mountain societies demands an understanding of both social and ecological factors operating at multiple spatial and temporal scales.

Comments on papers or questions about their content should be sent to msri@ucentralasia.org. 'Research Papers' may be cited without seeking prior permission.

About the authors:

Azamat Azarov is a Research Fellow with MSRI and is currently completing PhD in Sustainable Rural Development at Czech University of Life Sciences Prague, Czech Republic. His research involves small and medium farming system analysis in mountainous regions of Kyrgyzstan.

Zbynek Polesny is an associate professor at the Faculty of Tropical AgriSciences of the Czech University of Life Sciences Prague. He is a member of the Department of Crop Sciences and Agroforestry where he leads the team of the Tropical Botany and Ethnobiology Lab focussed on research in tropical botany and ethnobotany, agrobiodiversity conservation, and underutilized crops.

Vladimir Verner is head of department of economics and development at the Czech University of Life Sciences Prague. He is working at the Faculty of Tropical AgriSciences where he is a leader of Tropical Farming System Research Group. His main research and development activities are related to farming systems, economic botany, and food security. Special attention is given to assessment of relationships between household resources and sustainable agricultural practices adoption, promoting of value chains of underutilised species, homegardens management, and non-timber forest products collection and use.

Dietrich Darr is Professor of Agribusiness at Rhine-Waal University of Applied Sciences, Kleve since 2012. Before his appointment at Rhine-Waal University, he has been working for a leading international management consultancy. His primary research interests include the role of underutilised wild fruits and other non-timber forest resources in local livelihoods and value chains; the analysis of smallholders' land use-related decision-making in the Global South; as well as upgrading and innovation management in the forestry, NTFP and food industry.

Copyright © 2020

University of Central Asia

138 Toktogul Street, Bishkek 720001, Kyrgyz Republic

Tel.: +996 (312) 910 822, E-mail: msri@ucentralasia.org

The findings, interpretations and conclusions expressed in this paper are entirely those of the authors and do not necessary represent the views of the University of Central Asia. Text and data in this publication may be reproduced as long as the source is cited. Please cite this publication as: A. Azarov, Z. Polesny, V. Verner and D. Darr (2020) Characteristics and profitability of livestock-based farming systems in At-Bashy, Naryn oblast, Mountain Societies Research Institute, Research Paper #6, 18 p.

Table of Contents

1.	Introduction	5
2.	Methodology	5
3.	Results	7
	3.1 Main Characteristics of Smallholder Farms	7
	3.2 Feed Availability	
	3.3 Feeding Calendar of Animals	11
	3.4 Economic Output of Livestock Activities	
	3.5 Economic Output with Optimized Resource Allocation and Production Processes	
4.	Conclusions	14
Re	eferences	17

Tables

Table 1. Main characteristics of the sampled household	9
Table 2. Total crop yield and feeding for herds in preparation for the winter	
Table 3. Gross margins in livestock production, Kyrgyz som	
Table 4. Gross margins in livestock production with optimized production processes	14

Figures

Figure 1. Study area and selected villages	6
Figure 2. Estimated monthly feed availability in DM according to main feed sources and total needs	of
flock	11

List of Acronyms

1. Introduction

Agriculture represents one of the most important sectors of the Kyrgyz economy, comprising 14.8% of the country's GDP and engaging 34% of the labor force. Moreover, two-thirds of the population live in rural areas (MinEcon 2015). The collapse of the Soviet Union at the beginning of 1990s triggered a transformation process of the farming system. The large collective farms that were the typical agrarian unit in Soviet times were fragmented into more than 428,000 private family-managed farms (NSC 2018). Due to the specific geographical conditions of the country, most of the farms are located in mountainous regions at high altitudes. In general, the major agricultural production systems can be characterized as extensive animal husbandry combined with extensive cropland, oriented to fodder production. During this period of transformation, a number of small-scale farmers were able to improve their farm management and performance and expand their arable land and/or herd size. However, most of the family farms remain rather resource-poor and thus operate below their potential production capacities. Nevertheless, these farmers currently contribute 97% of the country's agricultural production (NSC 2018). Up to 49% of Kyrgyz territory is covered by pastures and meadows (Wilson 1997). This agroecosystem is an important natural resource for the country, as well as creating conditions that typical combine small-scale farming systems based on crops and livestock.

Naryn oblast is a typical example of such an agroecosystem in the country. At the same time, it is one of the most important livestock production areas in Kyrgyzstan. Highland pastures cover nearly 90% of the designated agricultural land in the oblast. However, at least 33% of the country's pastures were degraded a decade ago and the situation is getting worse (USAID, 2009). Studies have analyzed the dynamics of social and institutional aspects of pasture management during the post-Soviet period (Crewett, 2012; Farrington, 2005; Ludi, 2003; Wilson, 1997), as well as the ecological situation of the pastures (Shigaeva et al. 2007; Zhumanova et al. 2016). Most of these studies agreed that pasture use is unsustainable. Grazing pressures are particularly highly used near settlements, while remote summer pastures remain underutilized. The government has therefore introduced a number of regulations aimed at providing the required legal framework for sustainable pasture management, such as the Law on Pastures in 2006. However, despite these efforts, little progress has been made to stop the degradation of pastures to date. Among other reasons, this is due to significant knowledge gaps related to the prevailing farming systems and their socioeconomic performance (Liechti 2002).

Several studies note that smallholder rural farming systems in Kyrgyzstan have increased social and economic inequalities (de la Martinière 2012; Liechti 2002; Steimann 2011). However, most existing studies do not take into account the mutual connections between crop-livestock systems, herding practices, and profitability of livestock husbandry. Thus, this paper aims to (a) characterize the farming systems with regard to herd structure, herding practices, and fodder cropping; (b) determine the annual energy balance of fodder demand and supply for the herd and describe the feeding cycle of animals, showing feeding gaps and pressures on pastures; and (c) analyze the economic contribution of current livestock raising practices, as well as to what extent optimized feeding methods can increase animal profitability.

2. Methodology

The study was conducted in the At-Bashy District of Naryn oblast in villages located in mountainous areas at an elevation between 2200 and 2400 masl. The climate in these areas is semiarid with warm summers and long cold winters with an average annual precipitation of 300 mm (Bobojonov and Aw-Hassan 2014) Prevailing land use types are mixed cropping plots and pastures surrounding the settlements as well as remote summer pastures located at higher altitudes. There are 13,300 households distributed across 19 villages (NSC 2010). By means of single random sampling, 72 households from 16 villages were selected distributed across the region. Stratification of households was based on household statistics of livestock population and land-use size. Large

'resource rich' family farms owning more than 150 sheep or goats and households without any landholding were excluded, because such outliers could statistically distort the valuation outcome due to the presence of extreme values (Figure 1).



Figure 1. Study area and selected villages

In each sampled household we interviewed the household head and his wife in order to reflect the main decision makers' views. Data were collected in the study area between February and July 2014. Quantitative farmlevel data on the organization and economic performance of smallholder farms were collected by structured questionnaire. The interviewees were asked to provide information on the agricultural production systems, the level and type of mechanization used, resource base (including human, livestock, land, and capital resources), debt status, family-household economy, off-farm activities, and the social status of the family.

The quantity of feed obtained annually from different cropping systems was calculated by multiplying the number of hectares included for each crop type by its yield. The amount of purchased feedstuff was added to the quantity obtained from farms. The feedstuff demands for the various types of animals were computed based on their content of gross energy (GE), which was converted into metabolizable energy (ME) in dry matter (DM) and used with varying efficiencies according to maintenance, growth, milk, gravidity and motion expressed in megajoules (MJ/kg DM) (for dairy cows MJ NEL; Net energy content for lactation). The average nutritional values (mid quality) of certain fodder types were taken from the Fodder of USSR book (Tommea 1964), as well as from the DLG feeding Value Tables (German Agricultural Society 1997). The feed requirements (energy and protein supply) for animals were taken from the publications of the Bavarian Regional Office for Agriculture considering feeding norms for ruminants and horses according to live weight and daily fodder intake (LfL 2010, LfL 2017).

The total livestock population of the interviewed households was converted to a livestock unit (LU). Conversion factors recommended by Government Decree No. 386 of 19 June 2009 (Government of the Kyrgyz Republic 2009) were used and adjusted, because the average weight of sheep and goats were below standards. Therefore, a conversion factor of 0.16 was used for sheep and goats; the conversion factor for horses remained as recommended at 0.8. The DM requirement of an animal was calculated based on the daily DM requirement of 300

kg dual purpose cattle (equivalent to one LU), with a maintenance requirement of 7.4 kg DM per day and animal on average. The respective requirements for sheep and goats were 1.3 kg DM per day and animal and for horses 7.6 kg DM per day and animal.

To determine the annual winter feed balance, total livestock feed produced from different feed sources, total livestock units, and their winter maintenance requirement were calculated. The winter maintenance requirement of the animals was calculated and subtracted from the total livestock feed produced or purchased per year. If the amount of feed stored per year was above the maintenance requirement of the animals, feed was in excess of the maintenance requirement, otherwise there was a deficiency of livestock feed in the farm.

We computed the gross margins (GM) to assess the farmers' operational performance in livestock production. The GM was calculated as gross income/revenue minus direct variable costs. The higher the GM, the more money will be left towards paying the fixed costs, and hence maximizing the GM is equivalent to maximizing the profit. This method helps to quantify the farmer's investment, operating costs and the output of their production (i.e., effectiveness of production techniques). Values were calculated based on actual farm gate prices. All feeding costs were included as variable costs, which also included payment for herders' services and fees for pasture use. Animal activities included their replacements, culling (price for old animals), animal mortality (loss of breeding, calves/lambs), and annual offspring. The costs for the feeding of dairy cows, mares, sheep, and goats included fodder for offspring.

Linear programming (linear optimization) with Excel Solver was applied to determine the best allocation of a farm's limited resources and production processes (e.g. different breeding practices, e.g. cows or horses) to achieve the maximum GM. Constraints in linear programming were limitations on the available fodder stocks during the winter period. The latter lasts 7.5 months in the model during at which time animals should be kept indoors to reduce pressure on pastures and maintain optimal grass coverage. We assumed in the model that farmers would not sell harvested fodder in autumn as typical because of cash shortage and avoid the purchase of fodder in spring when the prices are much higher. Furthermore, we assumed that animals could be sold at significantly higher prices from late autumn until late spring when prices for animals increase up to 35% because animals are in good condition due to improved feed ration. Assumption of increase in animal prices obtained from survey data (cf. section 3.5.). Finally, we assumed that farmers were not able to increase the number of a particular type of animal due to cultural and traditional reasons¹, so we set a minimum number of one LU for each animal species.

3. Results

3.1 Main Characteristics of Smallholder Farms

Descriptive statistics of the sample the features of agricultural production and other activities, as well as income sources of the smallholder farmers in the At-Bashy region are presented in Table 1. The average household (HH) size of the sample was 5.4 persons, of which 2.1 were children and 3.3 members were above 18 years of age. In the sample, the share of male-headed HH heads was 83%, and 13% female-headed. More than half (53%) of the HH heads had finished primary education, about 29% had a technical vocational education, and 17% of HH heads had obtained higher education.

Livestock was the most common economic activity, in particular sheep, cattle, and horse production. Results indicate that the number of animals kept by most farmers has gradually increased in recent years. On average,

¹ Farmers usually sell sheep and goats if they need cash but can also sell cattle and horses if they need a larger amount of cash. Furthermore, they slaughter cattle or horses during social festivals, e.g. wedding or funeral. There is also a practice *'preparation of meat for winter'* [Kyrg. *'sogum'*]; horse or cattle of a farmer in autumn slaughtered and distributed among relatives.

farmers owned 15.8 LU per household. An average herd structure in livestock production consisted of fattailed sheep (42.4%), goats (8.7%), local steppe cattle (21.5%), horses (20.4%) and other animals such as yaks (6.9%t) and poultry (0.05%). The animals were kept mainly for meat production: cows and horses were raised mostly for both milk and meat; sheep were more common (42.4%), followed by goats (8.7%), very likely because of fodder intake for both animals is similar. However, goat meat prices are considerably lower compared to mutton. Additionally, sheep and goats were usually kept in one enclosed space, despite goats tending to harm sheep according to farmers. The few goats were mainly kept for subsistence. Neither wool nor milk from sheep or goats was used. However, 60% of households comb out goat wool, which was then sold for 'cashmere' processing. Cattle were the second-largest livestock asset and kept mainly for personal consumption but also for sale. On average, households kept one or two dairy cows for milk. Cows were milked twice a day, and the lactation period lasts approximately seven months. Horses were kept for meat and for mare milk production. However, the share of farmers milking mares was small, as lactating mares were on remote pastures in summer. These mares were milked by herders. Farmers favored keeping horses not only because of traditional reasons, but also because they required little labor. Only 8% of farmers had yaks: usually these were given to relatives with larger yak herds to tend. Poultry did not play a significant role in the animal production systems, as families only kept a few chickens for egg consumption.

Land redistribution 20 years ago also reflected land quality, irrigation possibilities, as well as population density, which was lower in higher altitudes. On average, the farmers in At-Bashy hold 3.85 ha of arable land. The share of leased land was small. More than half of the farmland was non-irrigated reflecting the low productivity of agricultural land in higher altitudes. Only 0.10 ha of fallow land was recorded per farm-household. This land was mostly unused due to its low fertility or remote location and limited access to agricultural machinery. The quantity and the timing of irrigation was a major factor for crop productivity in each village. Farmers in a few villages complained about the need to renovate irrigation channels and the unreliable water supply from the mountains. However, it can vary from village to village.

Cultivation of livestock fodder comprises by far the largest share of the cultivated cropland; almost 91% of the actual cultivated (irrigated and non-irrigated) land was used to grow grass, fodder legumes (sainfoin) for hay making, and fodder cereals, mostly barley, very rarely oat. Potatoes, wheat, and vegetables were grown on the remaining 9% of land, mostly in kitchen gardens for domestic consumption. Most of the non-irrigated land was utilized for hay production. On the irrigated plots, legume crops were typically grown (mostly sainfoin and small amounts of alfalfa). Within cereal production, barley was the most important crop for one-third of the farms, and mainly used as live-stock concentrated feed. In addition, the cultivation of barley was also important because it is used in crop rotation.

The variety of cultivated crops and the yields were low overall (see Table 2). Sainfoin was one of the main crops in almost half of the farms, and its cropping area has grown due to a proportionate reduction in areas of wheat, barley, and other crops in recent years. This was driven by the high profitability of sainfoin cultivation despite relatively low yields, low labor demand (including low soil tillage), and the availability of contractor services (e.g., combine harvesters for wheat/barley were less available than mowers). Additionally, the marketing of legume hay was easier compared to other crops including vegetables. Cereal yields were generally low and hence there was limited cultivation of wheat and oats. Wheat (grain) was not used for feeding, but for home consumption, while wheat straw was fed to animals.

Family income shows considerable variability among the sample households. The highest income is obtained from livestock. The second largest portion of household's income is obtained from off-farm revenues. Pensions and salaries from public institutions make up more than half of the total off-farm incomes. The third most important income source was crop production. Additional farm income contributed almost 31,000 KGS/year to total family income on average and included incomes obtained as professional herders, from contracting-out agricultural machinery, milk processing, or handicrafts.

Production for outside markets was generally low with subsistence production dominating. The share of market sales in total agricultural production was 35% livestock and 17% crop production. The market share of crop production was very low because most of the produce was used for livestock feeding.

	Unit	At-Bashy (n=72)	(Coefficient of Variance)
Village altitude	m a.s.l.	2,000-2,400	
Family size	persons	5.4	(0.32)
Children (0-17)	%	2,1	(0.56)
Working age (men/women >18)	%	3,3	(0.34)
Family head			
- Male	%	87	
- Female	%	13	
Education of household head	%		
- School education (9-11 grades)	%	54	
- Technicum (incl. agricultural)	%	29	
- Higher education (incl. agricultural)		17	
Herd size	LU	15.8	(0.52)
Herd composition:			
- cattle	%	21.5	
- sheep	%	42.4	
- goat	%	8.7	
- horses	%	20.4	
- yak	%	6.95	
-poultry	%	0.05	
Total farm land area	ha	3.85	(0,52)
-Irrigated	ha	1.78	(1,22)
-Non-irrigated (rainfed)	ha	1,97	(1,78)
-Uncultivated area (fallow)	ha	0.10	(4,38)
Share of cultivated crops:			
- Meadow	%	49	
- Legume crop (alfalfa, sainfoin)	%	29	
- Cereals (barley, wheat)	%	14	
- Potatoes	%	4	
- Other crops (vegetables)	%	4	
Household income:	Kyrgyz som	403,574	(0.90)
- Annual income from livestock husbandry	Kyrgyz som	135,341	(1.21)
- Annual income from crop production	Kyrgyz som	91,544	(0.91)
- Additional farm income (herder,	Kyrgyz som	30,850	(2.46)
contractor)	Kyrgyz som	126,032	(0.68)
- Annual off-farm income			
Share of market sales in total farm			
production:			
in livestock	%	35.0	
in crop	%	17.1	

Table 1. Main characteristics of the sampled household

3.2 Feed availability

The energy demand of an animal was determined by the maintenance requirement, which is linked to live (body) weight, the energy needed for live weight gain and for output (e.g., milk production in dairy cows). Furthermore, the requirements for gravidity and motion were also considered. On average, the total monthly amount of DM needed per farm was 3,411 kg DM. However, practically the amount of feedstuff required for herd maintenance and production depends on the feed energy content, its digestibility, and content of digest-

ible protein and other essential nutrients. The total forage resources available for livestock production came from pastures, arable land, meadows near croplands, and crop residues (grazing on cropland and meadows after harvest). Generally, natural pastures, meadows, and legume and meadow hay were the dominant feed resources in the district. The share of concentrated feed in the form of barley and oats was small; products such as grass silage were not used at all. According to most farmers, the quality of grass in pastures, as well as the produced feed was mediocre. However, the quality of legume (sainfoin) hay was indicated by farmers as good, and significantly better than the hay collected from the grass meadows.

The total quantity of feedstuff produced and purchased by farmers is shown in Table 2. Approximately 10% of farmers sold a part of their fodder, and about 50% purchased different types of fodder in addition to what they produced on their farms. These amounts were subtracted and added, respectively, to compute the total live-stock feed balance. While the yield of legume crops, such as sainfoin and alfalfa, was 3.82 tons/ha of hay on average with one cut per year, the average yield of hay collected from meadows was 1.76 tons/ha with one cut per year, due to the lack of irrigation channels. Only 9% of the farmers sold fodder, and legume hay (including alfalfa hay) was the most marketable fodder crop. According to farmers, hay and other crops including cereals were sold to contractors immediately after harvesting due to financial needs. By contrast, 50% of farmers purchased additional fodder, both hay and cereals. Most of these farmers purchased additional fodder in winter or early spring, reflecting the fodder scarcity during this period. On average, the total amount of available winter livestock feed was 9,102 kg DM per farm. The predominant portion of the winter ration consists of roughage (almost 90%) in the form of hay and straw, whereby the proportion of legume hay was more than 50%. The share of concentrated feed in the form of barley and oats was slightly more than 10%.

	Sainfoin hay (n=33)	Meadow hay (n=49)	Barley (grain) (n=24)	Barley straw (n=24)	Wheat straw (n=2)	Oat (grain) (n=1)	Oat straw (n=2)	Alfalfa hay (n=3)	Total
Cropping area, ha (Coefficient of Variance)	1.01 <i>(1.47)</i>	1.84 <i>(0.89)</i>	0.49 <i>(1.59)</i>	0.49 <i>(2.35)</i>	0.04 (6.74)	0.05 -	0.05 (7.56)	0.06 <i>(5.32)</i>	3.49 <i>(5.58)</i>
Yield, metric tons/ ha (Coefficient of Variance)	3.82 (0.33)	1.76 <i>(0.63)</i>	1.78 <i>(0.41)</i>	1.80 <i>(0.67)</i>	1.73 <i>(0.53)</i>	7.00 -	4.49 <i>(8.73)</i>	4.24 (1.06)	-
Total yield, tons/ year	3.85	3.24	0.88	0.89	0.07	0.34	0.22	0.27	-
Amount sold, tons/year (Coefficient of Variance)	0.29 <i>(4.15)</i>	0.11 <i>(4.59)</i>	0.26 (3.74)	0.15 <i>(4.87)</i>	0 -	0 -	0 -	0.04 <i>(3.48)</i>	0.85 <i>(2.49)</i>
Purchased amount, tons/year (Coefficient of Variance)	1.27 (1.66)	0.26 (2.89)	0.31 <i>(1.33)</i>	0 -	0 -	0 -	0 -	0 -	3.68 <i>(1.33)</i>
Available amount, tons/year (Coefficient of Variance)	4.83 <i>(1.22)</i>	3.39 (1.02)	0.93 <i>(1.58)</i>	0.74 (2.19)	0.07 (2.94)	0.34 -	0.22 -	0.23 <i>(5.74)</i>	10.75 <i>(0.65)</i>
Dry matter, kg	4,107	2,882	773	611	61	288	185	195	9,102

Table 2. Total crop yield and feeding for herds in preparation for the winter

3.3 Feeding calendar of animals

The 'feeding calendar' (Figure 2) illustrates the annual feeding opportunities and gaps. The results were calculated on the basis of dry matter intake estimated by farmers. Total needs in fodder remained constant over the entire year because during warmer months animals walked longer distances and needed more energy for motion, while during cold months animals expended less energy in motion but needed more energy to maintain optimal body temperature. The major parameter determining sufficient supply of feed was the condition of the animals, e.g. the gain or loss of body weight.

Results indicate that pastures, arable lands, and meadows (near the settlements) were the main feed sources. Farmers generally attempted to keep their animals as long as possible on these lands to reduce the amount of feed required for animals housed indoor during winter.



Figure 2. Estimated monthly feed availability in DM according to main feed sources and total needs of flock

*Total needs for average heard **Total available – sum of main available feedstuff

Animals typically returned from the highland pastures to the villages in October after the crop harvest, when this was permitted by the *aiyl okmotu*². Until the onset of winter, animals were left grazing on the pastures and meadows near the villages, where they remained fat due to the sufficient availability of feed throughout October. From November, after the arrival of snow cover, the winter feed stocks typically dominated as the major feed source. However, depending on weather conditions, these were supplemented by grazing pastures, meadows, and arable plots near the settlements. From December on, animals typically suffered significantly from the lack of fodder and started to lose body weight due to insufficient feeding. The lack of winter fodder prevailed until April, as farmers tried to save their feed as long as possible from late autumn until late spring. During the onset of spring, animals were left grazing shrubs and grass on arable land and meadows before the beginning of the new cropping season. However, according to most farmers, during this grazing period the fodder intake of animals was negligible, and they remained emaciated. From March to late April with the beginning of the vegetation growth period, farmers fed the remaining winter feed stocks to their animals and increasingly kept them in meadows and pastures near villages so that these became the main feed source again. However, animals typically did not gain weight during these weeks as there was not yet enough feed on these

² Village government; the communal executive

pastures. From mid-May to June, animals, except dairy cows, that had been pastured near the villages all year round, migrated to the higher pastures (*jailoo*) again. During this time, animals had enough feed on the pastures and started to gain weight, and in July, all animals were fat and in good condition.

Summarizing the annual feeding cycle, fodder supply depended on the pasture (including arable land, meadows) near settlements as well as highland pastures. The meadows and pastures near the villages were used intensively during spring and autumn due to insufficient winter feed, which induced significant pasture degradation. We also found that the supply of fodder was enough to cover the animals' needs for approximately five months from June to November, while animals suffered from a lack of fodder during the remaining months.

3.4 Economic output of livestock activities

The gross margin (GM) and economic importance of animal production are presented in Table 3. The calculations are based on the arithmetic average of the sample population. The GM for raising animals was positive, with values ranging between 1,708 KGS for sheep and 34,010 KGS for horses. The GM also varied within specific animal types according to the age and sex of the animals. For example, fattened-up horses (not mares) more than two years old achieved the highest gross margin per animal due to high selling prices and relatively low feeding costs. Horses, including mares and foals, usually graze up to 12 months on pastures resulting in low feeding costs. Although the feeding costs of dairy cattle were twice as high compared to mares, gross margins per head were similar (13,444 KGS and 13,375 KGS, respectively) due to the sale of cow milk. Cattle (fattened-up) also had high gross margins due to a relative high market price and low feeding costs. Goat production had higher gross margins in comparison to sheep because goats deliver two kids; but this caused higher fodder demand (+16%). The structure of benefits and costs revealed that generally the major cost factors that influenced gross margins per head were winter fodder, the replacement of animals and herders' services. Other variable costs included medicine, veterinarian services and feeding of offspring, which were much less than fodder costs. In contrast to the previously mentioned animal activities, yak production did not require any supplementary feeding. Yaks were raised extensively on high altitude pastures (above 2,500 masl) throughout the year, and hardly any costs were required for medical treatment and fodder. The major cost factors were herders' services and animal losses, which could include up to 40% of animals per year in some cases. Even though yak production was highly profitable, most farmers were not able to increase their numbers because they did not have direct control over their yaks because animals were cared by yak herders (mostly relatives). They specialize in yak production and keep usually large herds on remote highland pastures all year round. Such yak herders can include into their large herds a small number of yaks from others (yaks could not be kept alone and at a low altitude). Yak herders had usually full control and could define whether the number of yaks of relatives could increase or not.

	Dairy cow	Mare	Sheep	Goat	Yak	Cattle (fat. up)	Horse (fat. up)	Sheep (fat. up)
Output								
Milk yield	22,770	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Wool/hair	-	-	-	242	-	-	-	-
Offspring ¹	9,444	18,309	3,664	4,477	11,800	-	-	-
Culling ²	4,780	5890	764	429	63,00	-	-	-
Gross benefit, KGS*/head	36,994	24,199	4,428	5,149	18,100	25,238	47,668	6,000
Costs								
Replacement (heifer, ewe etc.)	3,614	4,326	778	614	-	-	-	-
Milk for offspring	8,280	-	-	-	-	-	-	-

Table 3. Gross margins in livestock production, Kyrgyz som

	Dairy cow	Mare	Sheep	Goat	Yak	Cattle (fat. up)	Horse (fat. up)	Sheep (fat. up)
Fodder (hay/cereals)	9,808	4,908	1,541	1,805	-	11,508	12,067	2,649
Service of herder	1,176	1,187	364	546	6,500	1,176	1,187	364
Medicine, vet service	672	404	37	56	-	672	404	37
Variable costs	23,550	10,824	2,720	3,021	6,500	13,356	13,658	3,050
Gross margin, KGS/head of animal and year	13,444	13,375	1,708	2,128	11,600	11,882	34,010	2,950
(Coefficient of Variance)	0.30	0.35	0.47	1.00	0.00	0.82	0.65	0.47
Number of animal species (adults)	1.4	1.6	19.5	4.7	0.7	1.3	0.3	6.6
Total gross margin, KGS	19,232	21,734	33,257	10,019	8,378	15,678	11,337	19,508
LU* (Total: 15.8)	2.1	1.96	5.75	1.39	1.1	1.32	1.26	0.93

¹ loss of lambs deducted from offspring

² loss of cows deducted from culling

* livestock units incl. offspring

Total gross margins from livestock rising per farm household accumulated to 139,141 KGS, with sheep (including fattened-up), cattle, and horses contributing 38%, 25%, and 24%, respectively. While the gross margins of animal activities look appropriate at first glance, several observations point out significant improvement potential of the traditional livestock production system. For example, because many animals were undernourished for a significant part of the year, this resulted in poor health conditions, low productivity, and high mortality (up to 20%). Because of the poor physical state of their herds during these months, most farmers could not sell their animals during the winter months and had to sell from summer to late autumn when the market prices dropped by 25-35% because most farmers sold their animals during this time. These and other factors made animal production highly risky and reduced the GM. However, some farmers keep a small number of animals (e.g. lambs and cattle up to 17%) in good condition so that they can be sold on the market or slaughtered for own consumption if needed at any time. Farmers fed those with enough fodder so that the animals gained weight and could be sold for higher prices.

3.5 Economic output with optimized resource allocation and production processes

The optimization objective in our model is to maximize GMs and maintain animals in good condition yearround and avoid overgrazing of pastures, particularly in early spring. Therefore, we optimized or extended length of the indoor housing period up to 7.5 months in order to avoid pasture overuse and optimized the amount of winter feedstuff, which increased by 23% for this period due to its reallocation. Then optimized available winter feedstuff was converted into a standard unit (DM) for all animal species (see Methodology section). In the model, the daily DM maintenance requirement per animal was as follows: dairy cows 7.4 kg DM; sheep/goats 1.3 kg DM; and mares 7.6 kg DM; these values were then multiplied by 7.5 months (optimized indoor housing period). The main results are presented in Table 4. Gross margins ranged between 1,592 and 34,010 KGS; the GM of fattened-up horses remained highest, while the GM for sheep and mares reduced by 7% and 8%, respectively, despite higher market price because of the nearly double feed costs. In contrast, the GM for dairy cows and goats increased by 8% and 4%, respectively, due to the higher market price for animals, higher milk yields (only cows), and reduced mortality rate of animals. The structure of costs showed that overall; the major cost factors which influenced gross margins per head were winter fodder, replacement, and herders' services, similar to the 'as-is-situation'. Total gross margins accumulated 118,979 KGS and compared to 'as-is-situation'. This represented a decrease of 15.5% because available winter feed stocks were enough only for 9.4 LU. Interestingly, the total GM per head for dairy cows, mares, sheep and goats did not differ much, i.e. 30,654 KGS in 'as-is-situation' vs. 30,620 KGS in the 'opt-situation'.

	Dairy cow	Mare	Sheep	Goat	Yak	Cattle (fat. up)	Horse (fat. up)	Sheep (fat. up)
Output								
Milk yield	27,600	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Wool/hair	-	-	-	453	-	-	-	-
Offspring ¹	12,749	24,717	4,947	6,044	11,800	-	-	-
Culling ²	6,453	7,952	1,031	580	6,300	-	-	-
Gross benefit, KGS/head	46,802	32,668	5,977	7,076	18,100	25,238	47,668	6,000
Costs						0	0	0
Replacement (heifer, ewe etc.)	4,518	5,407	1,011	798	-	-	-	-
Milk for offspring	8,280	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Fodder (hay/cereals)	17,635	14,567	2,972	3,461	-	11,508	12,067	2,649
Service of herder	1176		364	546	6,500	1,176	1,187	364
Medicine, vet service	672	404	37	56	-	672	404	37
Variable costs	32,280	20,378	4,385	4,861	6,500	13,356	13,658	3,050
Gross margin, KGS/head of animal and year	14,522	12,291	1,592	2,215	11,600	11,882	34,010	2,950
Number of animal species	2.0	1.0	6.0	6.0	0.7	1.3	0.3	6.6
Total Gross margin, KGS	28,941	12,291	9,555	13,292	8,378	15,678	11,337	19,508
LU [*] (Total: 9.4)	2.0	0.80	1.00	1.00	1.1	1.32	1.26	0.93

Table 4. Gross margins in livestock production with optimized production processes

1 loss of lambs deducted from offspring

2 loss of cows deducted from culling

* livestock units incl. offspring

In summary, our results show a decrease in total gross margin, driven mainly by a decrease in the number of animals because the available amount of fodder can only sustain 9.4 LU. As we set the DM requirement during the winter housing period and a minimum of one LU for each type of animal, the linear optimization provided two outcomes: (1) maximized the number of dairy cows and (2) minimized, as much as possible, the number of other animals (up to one LU) due to the highest GM of a dairy cow in comparison to GMs of other animals.

4. Conclusions

This study characterizes the prevailing smallholder farmers in At-Bashy District with regard to their production methods of animal husbandry and crop production. Based on a survey of 72 farms we determined the annual energy balance of fodder demand and supply for the herd and animal feeding cycle and analyzed income from the livestock husbandry. We then employed linear programming (optimization) to maximize the total gross margin where optimization problems were constrained due to winter fodder scarcity.

Our findings indicated that the resource base of prevalent farming systems in the region was poor and agricultural production was subsistence oriented. The area of farm holders cultivated land was less than four hectares. Neglected or non-available irrigation facilities reduce the productive land area even more (Steimann 2011). According to the marginal conditions in the highlands, only a limited number of crops can be cultivated, thus farming systems depend mainly on livestock production. Crop production mainly served as a source of feed for livestock. Though the fodder quality was indicated as mediocre, the amount collected and stored for winter was insufficient for the average herd size. Highland pastures, arable land, and meadows near the settlements were used as major feed sources for livestock throughout the year. Income analysis revealed that livestock husbandry was the main activity and contributed most to family income. However, despite the positive GM for raising animals, during a significant part of the year, animals could not be marketed, particularly when prices were high as animals were thin and undernourished due to lack of fodder. Optimization results revealed that despite decreasing the total GM, the margins per head differed very little.

Our results reveal several significant conclusions. First, the current production method (animal production) in the region is not only unsustainable in terms of pasture use, but also highly risky due to high mortality rates and low market prices for animals. To better benefit from market opportunities for livestock and agricultural products in a sustainable basis, farmers need to adjust and modify their farm management (production methods). This includes, for example, increasing fodder production through increasing legume fodder cultivation, higher quality seed sources, and more efficient cultivation techniques. Some new practices and technologies for sainfoin cultivation in the highlands of Kyrgyzstan have been introduced by WOCAT³ (Asanaliev and Usubaliev 2011) within the project 'Prevention and Mitigation of Land Degradation' through demonstration studies, distributing agricultural equipment, and supporting individual smallholders via training and information. Results revealed that farmers in focal areas at elevations of 2200-2300 masl obtained higher yields of sainfoin due to introducing improved cultivation practices and high-quality seeds that required relatively small investments. This is critical as large investments can hardly be achieved by smallholder farmers. Higher sainfoin yields would increase winter feed stocks for animals. The animals kept stabled for longer periods, i.e. at least seven months, would also help prevent overgrazing of pastures in early spring. We defined a housing period of 7.5 months according to guidelines on pasture management (Isakov et al. 2015; Shikhotov et al. 1981); grazing in the pastures should start 25-35 days after complete snowmelt or 18-20 days after the beginning of grass growth. Kulikov et al. (2016) also indicate high soil loss ratio (C-factor of RUSLE) in mountain rangelands of West Tian Shan shortly after snowmelt. According to Kulikov and Schickhoff (2017) grass vegetation on most pastures of central Tien Shan (cf. Cluster 3) started developing biomass in April and optimal grazing period should start from mid-May and can last up to late October. Grazing in early spring can negatively impact grass cover and likely increase soil erosion. In addition, based on data on the onset of the grazing period for local herders, in most villages of the At-Bashy District the grazing period started from mid-May or the beginning of June. However, the grazing period in spring can start later because this depends on weather conditions. For example, in 2015 the winter was longer and the grazing period started significantly later than usual, thus a higher volume of fodder needed to be stored.

Furthermore, results of optimization showed farmers should decrease the number of animals by up to 6 LU. However, despite this, a gradual increase in the number of animals has been observed in recent years, which can be attributed to the status of livestock as saving mechanisms, representing not only subsistence but also financial security (de la Martinière 2012; Steimann 2011). As such, it is difficult to reduce the number of livestock units. Therefore, improvements in fodder production and enhancement of fodder purchases are important steps towards improving animal productivity. Optimization results showed that dairy cows and goats had higher GMs, for which production could be increased, and farmers could specialize in their animal production. In addition, goats were not milked; doing so could significantly increase GM.

Overall, these results can be interpreted as an indication that adjustments in smallholders' land use and production methods are required to increase farm income and insure sustainable pasture use. An expansion of fodder cultivation is suggested to increase the volume of fodder stock for the winter period and ensure profitability of livestock production. However, the provision of productive inputs and additional consultancy services would

³ WOCAT is the World Overview of Conservation Approaches and Technologies

be needed to ensure success in this area.

Finally, we are aware that our approach has the following shortcomings: (i) the energy content of fodder as well as fodder intake of animals were estimated on the basis of incomplete information, which we obtained from different available sources; (ii) crop production was not considered in the optimization model because livestock production was given a higher priority and crop production focused on growing fodder for the winter. Our study should spur further research to help address some of these aspects research on the energy content of different fodders and fodder intake requirements.

5. References

Asanaliev, Abdybek (KNAU) and Baibek Usubaliev. 2011. Выращивание эспарцета в условиях горного земледелия - Суусамырская долина. [*Cultivation of Sainfoin in the Highland- Suusamyr Valley*]. Vol. 996. WOCAT 2011. Available at: http://www.cawater-info.net/bk/water_land_resources_use/russian_ver/wocat/kg004.pdf (accessed on 10 March 2020).

Bobojonov, Ihtiyor and Aden Aw-Hassan. 2014. "Impacts of Climate Change on Farm Income Security in Central Asia: An Integrated Modeling Approach." *Agriculture, Ecosystems & Environment* 188:245–55. http://doi.10.1016/J.AGEE.2014.02.033.

Crewett, Wibke. 2012. "Improving the Sustainability of Pasture Use in Kyrgyzstan." *Mountain Research and Development* 32(3):267–74. https://doi.org/10.1659/MRD-JOURNAL-D-11-00128.1

Farrington, John D. 2005. "De-Development in Eastern Kyrgyzstan and Persistence of Semi-Nomadic Livestock Herding." *Nomadic Peoples* 9(1):171–97. Available at: https://www.jstor.org/stable/43123753 (accessed on 10 March 2020).

German Agricultural Society. 1997. *DLG Feeding Value Tables (in German)*. Frankfurt am Main: DLG-Verl. Available at: https://www.dlg.org/de/landwirtschaft/themen/tierhaltung/futter-und-fuetterung/datenbank-fut-termittel (accessed on 10 March 2020).

Government of Kyrgyz Republic. 2009. On Measures to Implement the Law On Pastures. Kyrgyz Republic.

Isakov, Azamat and Johann Thorsson. 2015. Assessment of the Land Condition in the Kyrgyz Republic with Respect to Grazing and a Possible Development of a Quoting System on the Local Governmental Level CONTENTS. Available at: http://naturalresources-centralasia.org/flermoneca/assets/files/Assessment%20 of%20the%20land%20condition%20in%20the%20KR%20with%20respect%20to%20grazing..._EN.pdf (accessed on 1 March 2020).

Kulikov, Maksim and Udo Schickhoff. 2017. "Vegetation and Climate Interaction Patterns in Kyrgyzstan: Spatial Discretization Based on Time Series Analysis." *ERDKUNDE Archive for Scientific Geography* 71(2):143–65. http://doi.10.3112/erdkunde.2017.02.04

Kulikov, Maksim, Udo Schickhoff, and Peter Borchardt. 2016. "Spatial and Seasonal Dynamics of Soil Loss Ratio in Mountain Rangelands of South-Western Kyrgyzstan." *Journal of Mountain Science* 13(2):316–29. http://doi.10.1007/s11629-014-3393-6.

de la Martinière, Raphaële. 2012. "Rural Livelihood Trajectories Around a 'Bull Market' in Kyrgyzstan." *Mountain Research and Development* 32(3):337–44. http:// 10.1659/MRD-JOURNAL-D-11-00098.1.

LfL, (Bayerische Landesanstalt für Landwirtschaft). 2010. *Gruber Table Showing Feeding Norms for Horses (in German)*. Available at: https://www.lfl.bayern.de/mam/cms07/publikationen/daten/informationen/gruber_tabelle_pferdefuetterung_6unvauflage_lfl_information.pdf (accessed on 25 February 2020).

LfL, (Bayerische Landesanstalt für Landwirtschaft). 2017. *Gruber Table Showing Feeding Norms for Dairy Cows, Goats and Sheep (in German)*. Freising Weihenstephan. Available at: https://www.lfl.bayern.de/mam/cms07/publikationen/daten/informationen/gruber_tabelle_fuetterung_milchkuehe_zuchtrinder_schafe_ziegen_lfl-information.pdf (accessed on 25 February 2020).

Liechti, Karina. 2002. Lokale Handlungsstrategien im Wandel sozioökonomischer und politischer Rahmenbedingungen in Kirgistan [Local Action Strategies in the Changing Socio-Economic and Political Context in Kyrgyzstan]." University of Bern.

Ludi, Eva. 2003. "Sustainable Pasture Management in Kyrgyzstan and Tajikistan: Development Needs and Recommendations." https://doi.Org/10.1659/0276-4741(2003)023[0119:SPMIKA]2.0.CO;2 23(2):119–24.

MinEcon, (Ministry of Economy of the Kyrgyz Republic). 2015. *Kyrgyzstan: Numbers and Facts*. Bishkek. at: http://mineconom.gov.kg/index.php?option=com_ content&view=article&id=3633&Itemid=922&lang=ru (accessed on 15 December 2019).

NSC, (National Statistical Committee of the Kyrgyz Republic). 2010. Нарын: Статистический справочник. [*Naryn: Statistical Collection*]. Bishkek.

NSC, (National Statistical Committee of the Kyrgyz Republic). 2018. Сельское хозяйство Кыргызской Республики. [Agriculture of the Kyrgyz Republic]. Bishkek. Available at: http://stat.kg/media/ publicationarchive/1b8f2394-7681-49d8-adf3-b7babb600fe3.pdf (accessed on 27 February 2020).

Shigaeva, Jyldyz, Michael Kollmair, Peter Niederer, and Daniel Maselli. 2007. "Livelihoods in Transition: Changing Land Use Strategies and Ecological Implications in a Post-Soviet Setting (Kyrgyzstan)." *Central Asian Survey* 26(3):389–406. http://doi.10.1080/02634930701702696.

Shikhotov, V., A. Kulataev, and L. Gorborukova. 1981. Рекомендации по рациональному использованию пастбищ Киргизии. [*Recomendations on Rational Use of Mountain Pastures in Kyrgyz SSR*]. Киргизский НИТИ пастбищ и кормов. Фрунзе 1981.

Steimann, Bernd. 2011. "Making a Living in Uncertainty Agro-Pastoral Livelihoods and Institutional Transformations in Post-Socialist Rural Kyrgyzstan." University of Zurich. Available at: https://www.zora. uzh.ch/id/eprint/48643/4/Steimann_Making_a_living_in_uncertainty-V.pdf (accessed on 21 March 2020).

Tommea, Mikhail. 1964. Korma SSSR: Корма СССР. Состав и питетельность. [Fodder of USSR: Energy Content and Nutritional Value. 4th ed. Moscow: Kolos 442p.

USAID. 2009. *Pasture Reform. Suggestions for Improvements to Pasture Management in the Kyrgyz Republic.* Available at: http://pdf.usaid.gov/pdf_docs/ PNADN532.pdf (accessed on 14 February 2020).

Wilson, R. Trevor. 1997. "Livestock, Pastures, and the Environment in the Kyrgyz Republic, Central Asia." *Mountain Research and Development* 17(1):57. http://doi. 10.2307/3673914.

Zhumanova, Munavar, Nicole Wrage-Mönnig, and Dietrich Darr. 2016. "Farmers' Decision-Making and Land Use Changes in Kyrgyz Agropastoral Systems." *Mountain Research and Development* 36(4):506–17. http:// 10.1659/MRD-JOURNAL-D-16-00030.1.

Copyright © 2020 University of Central Asia 138 Toktogul Street, Bishkek 720001, Kyrgyz Republic Tel.: +996 (312) 910 822, E-mail: msri@ucentralasia.org www.msri.ucentralasia.org